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REPORT TO MAYOR AND COUNCIL 
 

          December 17, 2020 

 

             C9-20-09 Brake Masters – Grant Road, C-1 to C-2 (Ward 6) 

                         Public Hearing: December 3, 2020 

 

BACKGROUND 

 

This is a request by Jim Egan of Heights Properties LLP on behalf of the property owner, Heights 

Properties LLP, to rezone approximately 0.3 acres from C-1 to C-2 zoning.  The rezoning site is 

located on the south side of Grant Road, approximately 200 feet west of Swan Road (see Case 

Location Map).  The preliminary development plan (PDP) proposes demolition of a former 

(currently closed) vehicle inspection facility, and construction of a new auto service repair 

structure, with a use classification of automotive service and repair–major.  Proposed development 

includes a 5,100 square foot commercial structure with eight (8) service bays, enclosed storage 

area, customer waiting and office areas, with a maximum height of one story at 24 feet, and with 

required parking and landscaping.  Two residential homes located on an existing C-1 zone parcel 

to the south of the rezoning site are proposed for demolition to provide additional parking for the 

auto repair use.  This parcel will remain C-1 and is not part of the C-2 rezoning request. 
 

PUBLIC HEARING SUMMARY 

December 3, 2020 Zoning Examiner Hearing 

 

The Applicant’s representative spoke in support of the application at the December 3, 2020 public 

hearing.  A representative of the Garden District Neighborhood Association spoke in opposition to the 

proposed rezoning, raising concerns about noise, the suitability of the proposed automotive repair use, 

possible removal of mature vegetation on the adjacent lots which will be used for parking and existing 

ponding on adjacent streets following rainfall.  The owner of the adjacent property to the east of the 

proposed rezoning site testified that he was concerned that noise generated by the proposed automotive 

repair use would interfere with the drive through operation for his business. A representative of another  
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adjoining property owner also spoke and raised concerns about the possible elimination of alley access to 

his property. 

The Applicant’s representative testified that the existing alley access would be improved and maintained 

and that the Applicant would agree to a rezoning condition requiring that the existing mature trees on the 

adjacent lot must be preserved and maintained.  The Applicant’s representative testified that the Applicant 

agrees with all of the preliminary conditions proposed by PDSD.  The Zoning Examiner notes that these 

include conditions which will mitigate ponding on the adjacent streets and mitigate noise generated by the 

proposed use by requiring the use of muffling devices on automotive repair tools. 

As of the December 3, 2020 Zoning Examiner hearing there were 4 written approvals and 2 written 

protests.  In addition, PDSD received 3 emails protesting the proposed rezoning. 

 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

Background Information 

Existing Land Use:  The existing structure was previously used as an auto inspection facility.  Behind this 

structure is a public alley and on a separate parcel, two single-family dwellings, which are proposed for 

demolition. 

 

Zoning Descriptions: 

Commercial Zone C-1: This zone provides for low-intensity, commercial and other uses that 

are compatible with adjacent residential uses.  Residential and select other agricultural, civic, recreational, 

and utility uses may also be permitted that provide reasonable compatibility with adjoining residential 

uses. 

Commercial Zone C-2: This zone provides for general commercial uses that serve the community and 

region. Residential and select other agriculture, civic, recreational, and utility uses are also permitted that 

provide reasonable compatibility with adjoining residential uses. 

 

Surrounding Zones and Land Uses: 

North: Zoned C-1; Commercial retail 

South: Zoned C-1 and R-1; Multi- and single-family residential 

East: Zoned C-1; Food service use/restaurant and non-chartered financial use 

West: Zoned C-1 and R-1; Commercial retail and single-family residential 
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Planning Considerations  

 

Land use policy direction for this area is provided by the Grant-Alvernon Area Plan (GAAP) and 

Plan Tucson.  The general goal of the GAAP is to preserve, protect and enhance the integrity of 

established neighborhoods.  GAAP policies support development on the perimeter of residential 

areas which serves to protect and enhance the quality of life for neighborhood residents, and that 

demonstrates sensitivity to surrounding uses through the use of design, location, orientation, 

landscaping, and screening.  Policies also support primary access for nonresidential uses, to arterial 

streets or to a collector street within 300 feet of an arterial street, with vehicular traffic directed 

away from the interior of lower density residential areas. The GAAP encourages a well-defined 

pedestrian system linked to public sidewalks.  GAAP guidelines encourage all parking, loading, 

and vehicle maneuvering requirements to be on-site, and that evenly dispersed canopy trees be 

planted and maintained within parking areas to provide shade and reduce "heat island' effects.  

 

The rezoning site is located within an Existing Neighborhood Building Block as identified on the 

Future Growth Scenario Map of Plan Tucson.  Existing Neighborhoods are primarily developed 

and largely built-out residential neighborhoods and commercial districts in which minimal new 

development and redevelopment is expected in the next several decades.  The goal is to maintain 

the character of these neighborhoods, while accommodating some new development and 

redevelopment and encouraging reinvestment and new services and amenities that contribute 

further to neighborhood stability. 

Plan Tucson policy supports infill and redevelopment projects that reflect sensitivity to site and 

neighborhood conditions and adhere to relevant site and architectural guidelines.   Plan policy also 

strives to protect established residential neighborhoods by supporting compatible development, 

which may include other residential, mixed-use infill, and appropriate nonresidential uses.  

Appropriate locations for commercial uses are supported, with priority for development in the 

existing urbanized area, to promote use and improvement of existing infrastructure, increase 

pedestrian activity and transit use, and meet residents’ needs for goods and services.  A mix of 

residential, office, and commercial uses is supported along major corridors. 

   

Policies for Existing Neighborhoods support the expansion of commercial areas into residential 

areas when logical boundaries, such as existing streets or drainageways, can be established, and 

adjacent residential property can be appropriately screened and buffered.  Commercial expansions 

or consolidations may be an appropriate means of preserving the vitality of the street frontage and 

the character of the neighborhood. 

 

The roughly 0.3-acre rezoning site fronts on the south side of Grant road.  Two residences on a 

single C-1-zoned lot located to the south of the rezoning site are proposed to be demolished to 

provide for additional parking for the auto service use.  North of the rezoning site across Grant 

Road are retail commercial uses, zoned C-1.  Immediately to the east, at the southwest corner of  
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Grant Road and Swan Road, are food service uses, zoned C-1.  To the southeast, fronting on Swan 

Road is a non-chartered financial institution, zoned C-1.  To the immediate south are two single- 

and multi-family residential uses, zoned C-1.  Immediately to the west are commercial retail uses, 

zoned C-1, and to the southwest and south across North Street are single-family residences, zoned 

R-1. 

 

Grant Road is designated as an arterial route with a 120-foot right-of-way on the City of Tucson 

Major Streets & Routes Plan., and North Street is a local street that dead-ends to the south of the 

site, at approximately 300 feet west of Swan Road.  A public alley transects the site from Grant 

Road along the west and south sides of the proposed auto repair building, then jogs south through 

the proposed parking lot to connect with North Street.  The north-south trending alley access from 

North street is proposed for abandonment and a new public alley is proposed to allow access to 

the rezoning site from Swan Road to the east. 

 

The Pima Association of Governments - Transportation Planning Division (PAG-TPD) estimates 

that the proposed development will generate an average 23 vehicle trips per day. 

 
 

Design Considerations 

Land Use Compatibility – The 5,100-square-foot building will be no more than 24 feet tall.  To 

minimize noise impacts on the nearby residential properties to the south, all bay openings will be 

on the north, east, and west sides of the building.  Staff further recommends that all automatic tools 

be equipment with noise-abating mufflers and that hours of operation be restricted to between the 

hours of 7:00 AM and 7:00 PM. 

 

Due to the proximity of the site to residential properties, staff is recommending limits on the 

placement of signs.  Staff is recommending a condition that no signage be displayed on the south 

elevation of the building. The existing C-1 parcel proposed to be used for additional parking will 

not have any dumpsters or loading areas. 

Drainage/Grading/Vegetation – The site is relatively flat and not in a flood plain or hazard area. 

Storm water will be directed to depressed landscape areas.  Neighbors have reported ponding 

within North Street to the south of the southern portion of the proposed parking area.  Planning and 

Development Services Department – Engineering Section recommends that the development of the 

project include measures to eliminate the ponding problem North Street.  Retention and balanced 

basin detention will also be required. 

Road Improvements/Vehicular Parking/Access/Circulation/Urban Heat Island Mitigation – Plan 

policy restricts access for non-residential uses to major streets only and discourages traffic from 

using residential streets.  Policies also encourage the consolidation of adjacent development 

parcels to provide integrated circulation and access while reducing the number of vehicular curb 

cuts along the street.  The applicant is proposing access from Grant Road, and potentially a 
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future secondary access from Swan Road through a new public alley.  To the south of the 

rezoning site, there is an existing public alley with access from North Street that is proposed to 

be abandoned to the neighbor and the access will be closed off to the Brake Masters rezoning 

site. This proposed public alley reconfiguration will eliminate south-bound traffic infiltrating the 

neighborhood, and is consistent with plan policy to limit access points to arterial streets or to a 

collector street within 300 feet of an arterial street, with vehicular traffic directed away from the 

interior of lower density residential areas.  This is an improvement over the current condition 

which allows traffic to access the commercial site from North Street, which is a local street 

within a residential neighborhood.  Staff recommends a condition prohibiting access onto North 

Street for the Brake Masters. It will be the responsibility of the applicant to coordinate with the 

adjacent property owner and with the City of Tucson Real Estate Division for abandonment of 

the existing alley and acquisition of the newly proposed alley.  It appears that two existing 

vehicle parking spaces and a carport located on the check-cashing facility to the east do not allow 

a 20-foot width for the new public alley.  It must be demonstrated in the development package 

review process that, if these spaces are to be removed for the new alley access, there is not a 

deficit of parking created for this non-chartered financial use. 

Surfaces, such as paving from roadways and asphalt parking areas, contribute to approximately 

40% of impervious surfaces in a city.  These impervious surfaces, in turn, contribute to 

increasing urban  

heat islands.  The unintended consequences include vulnerable people, including the elderly and 

those living alone with limited social networks and income being exposed to heat exhaustion 

during extreme heat events, and increasing energy use due to the need to cool facilities.  

Increasing reflectivity of these paved surfaces, providing shade (trees and/or shade structures) or 

pervious surfaces mitigate the heat absorption quality of dark pavement. The City encourages 

developers to work with staff to apply best management practices to mitigate urban heat island 

effects, reduce energy consumption and work towards community resiliency. 

Unified Development Code Section 7.4.1.B states that one intention of vehicle parking 

regulations is to reduce excessive off-street parking.  To reduce the urban heat island effect, it is 

generally recommended that parking overages be limited to no more than ten (10) to twenty (20) 

percent more than required without some form of mitigation.  This project requires 17 vehicle 

parking spaces, with 32 spaces proposed.  This results in a surplus of 15 parking spaces, which is 

almost 90 percent above the requirement. Mitigation can be achieved by incorporating one of the 

following:  

1) enhanced landscaping with canopy trees (15-gallon container) planted on a one-to-one basis 

(one canopy tree per additional parking space over the 10% surplus);  

2) covered parking (solar panel parking covers are acceptable) to be provided for the over 10% 

surplus spaces;  
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3) or the use of light-colored paving materials such as concrete or cool paving coating over 

asphaltic surfaces, or some form of porous paving materials for the over 10% surplus spaces. 

In addition to the mitigation options described above, PDSD has recommended a condition 

limiting any overnight parking to only the C-2-proposed rezoning site and the Zoning Examiner 

agrees with this condition. 

Conclusion  

The GAAP and Plan Tucson support commercial development at this site, provided site design 

can properly buffer existing residences and preserve the character of the neighborhood.  Plan 

Tucson also supports the retention of jobs in the community.  The proposed project redevelops a 

site with an abandoned vehicle inspection use and a vacant structure, and orients vehicle repair 

activities and noise-generating uses away from residential uses. 

The Zoning Examiner has reviewed the sound report submitted by the Applicant and notes that it 

did not directly address the issue of whether noise generated by the proposed use would interfere 

with the drive through operations at the adjacent business to the east.  The Zoning Examiner 

recommends, as a condition of rezoning, that the Applicant be required to conduct a further 

sound study, and take all recommended actions to mitigate any noise impact on the adjacent 

business.  The Zoning Examiner also recommends that, as a condition of rezoning, the Applicant 

be required to maintain and preserve the two mature trees on the adjacent lot which will be used 

for parking.   

Subject to compliance with the preliminary conditions proposed by PDSD, and the additional 

conditions described above, approval of the requested C-2 zoning is appropriate. 

Recommendation 

Subject to compliance with the preliminary conditions proposed by PDSD, and the additional 

conditions described above, approval of the requested C-2 zoning is appropriate. 

 

Sincerely, 

John Iurino 

Zoning Examiner 
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ATTACHMENTS: 

Case Location Map 

Rezoning Case Map 

Public Hearing Minutes 

cc: Mayor and Council 
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ZONING MEMBERS PRESENT: 

 John Iurino, Zoning Examiner  

 Peter McLaughlin, Planning & Development Services 

 Recording Electronically Created by GoToMeeting 

====================================================================== 

  ZONING EXAMINER:  - Iurino, and I’m the Zoning Examiner for 1 

the City of Tucson.  I conduct rezoning hearings on behalf of the 2 

Mayor and Council, and make findings-of-fact which I put into a 3 

written report, along with my recommendation, which I then send along 4 

to Mayor and Council for their consideration and for their final 5 

decision. 6 

  My report will be based on the information submitted to me, 7 

which includes the rezoning application, the Staff report, all written 8 

approvals and protests, all correspondence and the testimony given at 9 

tonight’s public hearing.  I will also include in the record all 10 

documents submitted to me up to the close of tonight’s public hearing.   11 

  A recording of tonight’s testimony is being made.  If 12 

requested, a transcript will be prepared.  With that in mind, I would 13 

ask you to please speak clearly if you choose to speak tonight, and to 14 

begin your testimony by stating your name, and your address.  And if 15 

you have a last name like mine, Iurino, I would ask that you spell it. 16 

  First, I complete a preliminary report within five working 17 

days after the close of the public hearing, at which time I prepare a 18 

final report.  The final report will be issued two weeks after the 19 

close of tonight’s public hearing. 20 

  For those of you who wish to receive a copy of my 21 

preliminary report, and not a, and are not a party listed on the case, 22 
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please send an e-mail to tucsonrezoning@tucsonaz.gov.  Again, that’s 1 

tucsonrezoning@tucsonaz.gov to request a copy, or call the Planning & 2 

Development Services Department. 3 

  A copy of the final report will be available from the 4 

Planning & Development Services Department, and I send the final 5 

report along to the Mayor and Council. 6 

  At the scheduled public hearing for the case, the Mayor and 7 

Council will then vote on the matter, based on my recommendation, 8 

along with other factors. 9 

  Tonight’s public hearing will proceed in the following 10 

manner.  I will open the public hearing and ask Mr. Peter McLaughlin, 11 

of the Planning & Development Services Department, to give a brief 12 

presentation of the case. 13 

  After Mr. McLaughlin’s presentation, I will ask the 14 

Applicant, or the Applicant’s representative, to make his or her 15 

presentation.  I will then ask to hear from anyone in the audience who 16 

wishes to speak. 17 

  I will start by calling on anyone who has requested from 18 

the Planning & Development Services Department to be heard tonight, 19 

and then open it up to others who are present. 20 

  While you’re participating by listening, I would ask you 21 

keep your microphone muted, as you have done, to avoid feedback.  If 22 

you have any technical problems during the hearing tonight, you may 23 

call 837-4984. 24 

mailto:tucsonrezoning@tucsonaz.gov
mailto:tucsonrezoning@tucsonaz.gov
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  Since I cannot have any communication with anyone lis- -- 1 

with anyone involved in the case outside of this public hearing, I 2 

would invite you to speak tonight if you would choose to do so. 3 

  After everyone in attendance has had a chance to speak, I 4 

will offer the Applicant, or the Applicant’s representative, a chance 5 

to respond to any of the concerns or issues that have been brought up. 6 

  So, with all that in mind, anyone who believes they might 7 

testify tonight, or wishes to testify tonight, please take an oath.   8 

I would ask that you affirm to tell the truth, the whole truth, and 9 

nothing but the truth.  You may nod or unmute and say “yes”. 10 

  (Affirmative.) 11 

  ZONING EXAMINER:  Thank you.  Thank you very much.  I will 12 

now open the hearing.  The case tonight is Case: C9-20-09 Brake 13 

Masters – Grant Road, C-1 to C-2.  Mr. McLaughlin? 14 

  MR. McLAUGHLIN:  Yes.  This is a request by Jim Eagan of 15 

Heights Properties, LLP, on behalf of the property owner, Heights 16 

Properties, LLP, to rezone approximately 0.3 acres on the south side 17 

of Grant Road and 200 feet west of Swan Road from C-1 to C-2 zoning to 18 

allow the demolition of what was once a vehicle inspection facility, 19 

and the construction of new 5100-square-foot RO service repair 20 

structure for Brake Masters with a maximum height of one story at    21 

24 feet. 22 

  Staff had initially interpreted the Preliminary Development 23 

Plan that there would be nine service bays.  But for a point of 24 

clarification, after discussion with the Applicant, the area on the 25 
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plan labeled as “oil and air” is not actually a service bay, but only 1 

storage for those services. 2 

  An existing C-1 zone parcel to the south of the rezoning 3 

site will remain C-1 and will be used to provide additional parking 4 

for the auto repair use. 5 

  To minimize noise impacts on nearby residential properties 6 

to the south, all bay openings will be on the east and west sides of 7 

the building.  And Staff further recommends a condition that all 8 

automatic tools be equipped with noise-abating mufflers and that  9 

hours of operation be restricted to between the hours of 7:00 A.M.  10 

and 7:00 P.M. 11 

  The Grant-Alvernon Area Plan and Plan Tucson both support 12 

commercial development at this site, provided the site design can 13 

properly buffer existing residences and preserve the character of the 14 

neighborhood. 15 

  Also encouraged in Plan Tucson is the retention of jobs.  16 

And this project redevelops the site with an abandoned vehicle 17 

inspection use in a vacant structure with orientation of vehicle 18 

repair activities and noise-generating uses away from residential 19 

uses.  Subject to compliance with the Preliminary Conditions, approval 20 

of the requested C-2 zoning is deemed appropriate by Staff.   21 

  As far as approvals and protest forms that we’ve received, 22 

we had four approval forms and two protest forms.  And in addition, we 23 

have received e-mail protest letters from representatives from 24 

neighborhood associations in the area, including representatives from 25 
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Palo Verde Neighborhood Association, Garden District Neighborhood 1 

Association, Flower Neighborhood Association and North Dodge 2 

Neighborhood Association.  And that concludes the Staff report. 3 

  ZONING EXAMINER:  Thank you, Mr. McLaughlin.  Mr. Egan, 4 

would you like to be heard? 5 

  MR. EGAN:  Yes. 6 

  ZONING EXAMINER:  You’ll need to unmute your microphone, 7 

Mr. Egan.  Begin – Mr. Egan, when you’re ready, unmute your microphone 8 

and begin by stating your name and address for the record, please. 9 

  MR. EGAN:  Jim Egan. 10 

  ZONING EXAMINER:  Mr. Egan, I think your microphone is 11 

muted again.  We got your name for the record, but we need your 12 

address now, and then any remarks you wish to give.   13 

  Mr. Beall, or Mr. McLaughlin, do you have a cell number for 14 

Mr. Egan?  He doesn’t seem to be able to unmute his microphone.  Maybe 15 

we can straighten that out with him. 16 

  MR. McLAUGHLIN:  I would have to look at the original 17 

application materials for contact information, but I can certainly do 18 

that. 19 

  ZONING EXAMINER:  Thank you very much, Mr. McLaughlin. 20 

  MR. THIBODEAU:  While we’re sitting here, my name’s Walter 21 

Thibodeau.  May I ask a question? 22 

  ZONING EXAMINER:  Yes, Mr. Thibodeau.  Please. 23 

  MR. THIBODEAU:  I’m the abutting neighbor, the Dunkin’ 24 

Donuts, that’s beside him.   25 
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  ZONING EXAMINER:  Yes. 1 

  MR. THIBODEAU:  And the question I have is how it’s going 2 

to affect my business where he’s gonna have bays facing my store where 3 

my drive-through is.  So, basically, my customers drive up to the 4 

drive-through and give their order, and if his equipment is over there 5 

(inaudible) we’re not gonna be able to hear the order. 6 

  ZONING EXAMINER:  Okay.  Thank – Mr. Thibodeau, thank you 7 

for that.  When we get Mr. Egan’s microphone situation straightened 8 

out, we will certainly pose that question to him.   9 

  And if you’d like to stick around and wait, we’re ha- -- 10 

we’re happy to take your testimony on that point again.  Or, if you 11 

need to leave, I can certainly ask that question for you.  Totally up 12 

to you, sir. 13 

  MR. THIBODEAU:  (Inaudible)  And just, just as a side note, 14 

I have been trying to get ahold of Jim since the beginning of the 15 

week. 16 

  ZONING EXAMINER:  Okay. 17 

  MR. THIBODEAU:  Left about six messages at his office, and 18 

for some reason, I’m not getting a return call. 19 

  ZONING EXAMINER:  Okay.  Well, we’ll try to get that 20 

straightened out to the extent we can.  This, of course, is a zoning 21 

hearing, but we’ll try to get to the bottom of that as well. 22 

  (Multiple speakers – unintelligible.) 23 

  ZONING EXAMINER:  Mr. Egan, are you around? 24 

  MR. EGAN:  Yes.  Jim Egan here. 25 
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  ZONING EXAMINER:  Okay.   1 

  MR. EGAN:  Heights Properties, 6179 East Broadway. 2 

  ZONING EXAMINER:  Okay.  So, Mr. Egan, I’m sorry to 3 

interrupt, but you have a lot of feedback going on.  Do you have more 4 

than one device you’re using? 5 

  MR. EGAN:  Do I have what? 6 

  ZONING EXAMINER:  Okay.  So, we’re getting lots of 7 

feedback, a lot of echoing.  Do you have more than one device on? 8 

  MR. EGAN:  Can you hear me now? 9 

  ZONING EXAMINER:  Yes.  That’s much better.  Thank you.  10 

Begin with your name and address again, please. 11 

  MR. EGAN:  Jim Egan, Heights Properties, 6179 East Broadway 12 

Boulevard, Tucson, 85711.  I’m here on behalf of Heights Properties, 13 

and Heights Properties is a sister company of Brake Masters. 14 

  We’re being relocated with the Grant Road widening from 15 

Grant and Columbus where we’ve been there for 37 years.  We are a 16 

local company.  Our application and our development plan was submitted 17 

to the neighbors for their consultation and comments.   18 

  And we believe we’ve incorporated to the extent possible 19 

the comments for landscaping and lighting and perimeter walls.  If 20 

there’s something that I’ve missed, I’m happy to address it.  And I’m 21 

sorry to hear that I missed Walter’s calls.   22 

  The, the proposal before us is we’re, we’re planning to 23 

demolish and rebuild a 5100-square-foot auto service facility.  We’re 24 

going to retain all the water on site.  I know that was a concern for 25 
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many neighbors due to the extensive flooding at North Street.  And we 1 

plan to stipulate to any of the design criteria for the City as just a 2 

matter of course. 3 

  That concludes my brief comments, but if there’s any 4 

questions, I’m, I’m – that’s why I’m here. 5 

  ZONING EXAMINER:  Okay.  Perhaps this will be a good time 6 

for you to address Mr. Thibodeau’s question which was:  How will the 7 

impact of noise from the east side of your facility be mitigated, 8 

given that he has a drive-through for his Dunkin’ Donuts adjacent to 9 

this property? 10 

  MR. EGAN:  Okay.  Well, I’ve commissioned a sound study 11 

that has told us that the road noise is, is such that we’ve, we’ve  12 

got 70,000 cars a day between Grant and Swan.  And our impact into 13 

that pool is negligible. 14 

  The, the sound from the surrounding area is such that we 15 

don’t have an outstanding contribution.  It’s, it’s just outwashed 16 

(sic) by the ambient noise.  I’m happy to sit with Walter and talk 17 

about how we could do that specifically if he has a concern. 18 

  ZONING EXAMINER:  I won’t speak for him.  I was relaying 19 

his question.  Mr. Thibodeau, would you like to be heard further? 20 

  MR. THIBODEAU:  Yes.  I, I – my question – 21 

  ZONING EXAMINER:  I’m sorry.  Mr. Thibodeau, I, I need to 22 

ask you to state your address, too.  I know where you are, I know the 23 

property, but go right ahead. 24 
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  MR. THIBODEAU:  All right.  It’s 4676 East Grant Road, 1 

Tucson, Arizona 85712. 2 

  ZONING EXAMINER:  Thank you. 3 

  MR. THIBODEAU:  Okay.  Thank you.  Well, the question I 4 

have is because on the west side of your building, you’re talking 5 

about having bays.  And if you look at my adjacent building - so, 6 

we’re gonna create a block there. 7 

  So, if you’ve got power tools going in there, it’s gonna 8 

hit my building and bounce back.  It’s not like it’s gonna be 9 

spreading all over the place.  Now, initially, I thought your bays 10 

were gonna be in the front and in the back.  And I have, and I have 11 

tried to get ahold of you five times this week.   12 

  So, you know, what’s gonna happen is you got those power 13 

tools.  My drive-through people are not – we’re not gonna be able to 14 

hear what they’re ordering. 15 

  ZONING EXAMINER:  Thank you, Mr. Thibodeau.  And, Mr. Egan, 16 

we’ll – I’ll give you an opportunity to respond to that after others 17 

who are present who wish to testify tonight have had a chance to be 18 

heard. 19 

  We had an e-mail request from Mr. Lois Paulock (ph.).  If 20 

I’m pronouncing that wrong, I apologize.  Ms. Paulock, are you 21 

present? 22 

  MS. PAULOCK:  Yes, I am. 23 
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  ZONING EXAMINER:  And would you please state your name and 1 

address for the record, and then give whatever testimony you’d like to 2 

give?  Thank you. 3 

  MS. PAULOCK:  Yeah.  Lois Paulock, and I’d like to give a 4 

P.O. box, if that’s okay. 5 

  ZONING EXAMINER:  Sure. 6 

  MS. PAULOCK:  I live in, I live at – well, I live at the 7 

4100 block of East Lester Street.  It’s P.O. Box 32384, 85751.  And 8 

I’m - 9 

  ZONING EXAMINER:  Thank you. 10 

  MS. PAULOCK:  I’m President of the Garden District 11 

Neighborhood Association.  And so, we try to represent the interests 12 

in the people who contact us about things such as rezoning.  And we 13 

received a couple of – we did receive the notice from Heights 14 

Properties about the rezoning back, back at the time that we had – he 15 

held the neighborhood meeting. 16 

  The residents are very concerned.  That street is very 17 

small, North Street, and oddly enough, we have - four out of five 18 

properties are inhabited, and four out of five have owners occupying 19 

the homes. 20 

  You know, we live in an area where we can have up to 70% 21 

rental, and it’s very unusual to have owner-occupied housing in an 22 

area, especially that’s so close to an intersection.  But the - so, we 23 

are very concerned and we fight - owners’ (inaudible) the area.  We 24 

try very hard through crime initiatives, working with the Ward Office, 25 
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working with TPD, and Trees for Tucson.  We are trying to very much 1 

improve Garden District.   2 

  We’re very supportive of businesses, but along with the 3 

Grant and Alvernon Plan, we, which we agree with, we are supportive 4 

more of commercial business such as that, that belongs in C-1. 5 

  We – our worst properties in Garden District, pretty much, 6 

just got demolished along Grant, of which the current Brake Masters 7 

is, is one of those properties that (inaudible) demolished.  We just 8 

got rid of some of the worst properties that we have.   9 

  The car repair businesses were just a eyesore.  They ended 10 

up catching a car on fire at one of those properties after it had been 11 

abandoned by the last owner.  But that means that the last (inaudible) 12 

occupants left all of their garbage (inaudible) everything for the 13 

neighborhood to contend with. 14 

  So, we’re – you know, although we’re not looking forward to 15 

the Grant Road widening, I, you know, you have to say that it now 16 

looks better than it did when we had those (inaudible) properties. 17 

  So, there’s – you know, so, Grant – we’re in the process 18 

also of reviewing Grant and Alvernon Plan, and readjusting it to 19 

reinforce the fact that we don’t want any industrial-type of, of 20 

businesses along Grant Road because it will just end up like it was 21 

before, which is not conducive to a nice neighborhood. 22 

  We need businesses backing up to our residential 23 

neighborhoods that, you know, they, they go hand-in-hand with what, 24 

you know, with residences.  You know, there’s been a few issues with 25 
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this.  The current Brake Masters at the corner of Grant and Columbus 1 

has been, you know, although, you know, we might not like the colors, 2 

or whatever, you know, they’ve been a very quiet presence as far as 3 

they’ve never been to a neighborhood meeting.   4 

  They’ve never responded to any kind of correspondence we’ve 5 

had out there.  Every business gets at least a once-a-year mailing 6 

from us which (inaudible)  They’ve never participated in any manner. 7 

  And so, then you start going and looking at the property.  8 

They kept a okay property, but there’s a, a large amount of oil on the 9 

property.  It’s all over the pavement. 10 

  They installed a outdoor, outdoor lift for cars so they 11 

could expand the amount of space they had.  And, you know, it’s, it’s 12 

just, it’s, it’s more of a semi-eyesore right now.  And it’s not that 13 

- it's right next door to a small apartment complex, and that’s not a 14 

good quality of life for them.   15 

  We just drove by the other day.  There’s an enormous 16 

graffiti tag on, on their wall.  They didn’t do it, you know, but, you 17 

know – and they’re – they’ve, they’ve maintained the property as far 18 

as picking up the trash and things.   19 

  But they’re flying flags 24 hours a day on the site, and 20 

they’re pretty much a - what do you call it?  - site hazard for cars 21 

that are turning from Columbus onto Grant.  They flying one of the 22 

oldest, dirtiest American flags out front that is just full of car 23 

grease.  And we’re not looking forward to having them open yet another 24 

property where they’re just not gonna be changing that much.  25 
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  (Inaudible) they sent me a environmental impact study that 1 

a consultant did for them regarding oil on the ground.  I shouldn’t – 2 

I’m, I’m representing a neighborhood association.  I should not have 3 

to be reading an engineering report as the only response to me that, 4 

that I got about that concern. 5 

  So, I, I understand that, yes, they’re probably gonna put 6 

in a newer oil collection service or something, but you know.  So, we 7 

have the meeting (inaudible) I can’t remember the exact date.  Maybe 8 

it was, it was in August, I think, sometime.   9 

  And the letter that came to us, and all the residents, 10 

nothing was mentioned about taking a – demolishing a home on North 11 

Street to turn it into a parking lot.  And so, no one really found out 12 

about that information (inaudible)  So, when (inaudible) their project 13 

(inaudible) a little suspicious about what else they might be doing. 14 

  So, (inaudible) and we don’t see the parking lot, we see 15 

that as a work-around (sic).  The property on Grant Road is not big 16 

enough to support all the parking.  So, therefore, they have to come 17 

up with more parking.   18 

  So, they decide they’re going to, you know, their alternate 19 

plan is to purchase the parking lot and demolish the house and 20 

everything on the lot, if they wanted to, and put a parking lot. 21 

  Why – how could that possibly be seen as an improvement to 22 

the neighborhood?  That’s, that’s degrading the neighborhood.  It’s 23 

gonna reduce property values.  It’s going to encourage people 24 
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(inaudible) in that parking lot.  I don’t care what you do, the 1 

neighbors are going to be policing that parking lot.   2 

  There’s gonna be graffiti.  There’s gonna be people 3 

sleeping in there.  There’s gonna be trash and everything else.  And 4 

Mr. Hite (sic) – or Mr. Egan, you know, is trying to indicate to us 5 

that he’ll give a personal guarantee that that will never happen.  6 

And, you know, I’m really sorry, but the process is not, should not be 7 

dependent on a person.   8 

  And to not have a home there that has people coming up to 9 

it, somebody living there, or even, and even though that is a C-1, you 10 

can have a business in there.  And there is currently, I believe, 11 

somebody with a home-based business.  We’re totally fine with that.   12 

  And, and the property next door to it, same type of 13 

situation, it’s a home also.  But, we don’t need any homes torn down 14 

in Garden District.  We don’t need them torn down anywhere.  We 15 

already lack housing in the city.  And every house that gets torn down 16 

is one less place for people to live. 17 

  But, you know, the fact that they’re going to be parking 18 

cars over there, and I understand.  I, I read part of the details what 19 

the City wrote.  They’re not allowed to leave them there overnight.  20 

But if they did, who’s going to do anything about it? 21 

  The neighbors are gonna go – have to go over there and take 22 

photos and report it, and go through who knows who in order to get the 23 

situation corrected.  So, we have a problem with that. 24 
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  In the beginning, they were just gonna take the three or – 1 

there’s, I think, four mature trees over there, too.  This town has so 2 

few trees that we can’t afford to lose any more trees.  They’re sawing 3 

down left and right. 4 

  So, Mr. Egan said that, “Well, you know, I think we can 5 

keep a couple of trees.”  But we don’t – we just saw this – you know, 6 

these promises to keep trees, there’s nothing you can do about it if 7 

later on they, they break the promise.   8 

  And, yes, I guess the resident can saw the trees down, you 9 

know.  But, you know, that’s a whole different story.  We can work 10 

with residents, you know.  We can do trees plantings at residents’ 11 

places and we can do all kinds of things.  But we can’t work with 12 

businesses very well, especially one that doesn’t appear to be 13 

interested.  14 

  The other thing that’s very concerning is that the meeting 15 

that Mr. Egan held was their meeting.  He had some of the same issues 16 

with, with communicating on the Zoom.  And we have no idea who he sent 17 

invitations to because there’s nothing posted anywhere.  And he just 18 

said he sent them to whoever was on the list at the City.   19 

  But, we have no list of who, who, who the – who was 20 

informed.  We don’t know – yeah, we, we don’t have that information.  21 

And he – I, I – we don’t know if he wrote anything down.  We – I wrote 22 

things down.  I wrote the names of participants.  I wrote the names of 23 

all the e-mails that I had of everybody, and I sent them to Mr. Egan 24 

later. 25 
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  There is no excuse for that.  I know we’re in Covid times, 1 

we gotta have things on Zoom.  But you should practice.  And so, I 2 

have no confidence that Mr. Egan really wrote down our concerns and 3 

even tried to address them. 4 

  His only comeback – in, in, in fact, I just looked at an  5 

e-mail I got from one of the residents today that he sent back 6 

addressing a couple of her concerns in the letter.  He, he gave us no 7 

reply on any of the, of the, the issues and things that were brought 8 

up during our August meeting, for what, you know, what – during the 9 

neighborhood meeting, whenever the date was ‘cause I don’t, just don’t 10 

recall it. 11 

  And so, they’re – I sent him a, a huge list.  It’s the same 12 

list I, I sent in for the rezoning.  And none of that’s been talked 13 

about.  He has tried to just placate us – giving us this environmental 14 

study for the old property.  Giving us a noise study.  And I see, you 15 

know, that I didn’t think about the problem that could occur at the 16 

Dunkin’ Donuts with the extra noise. 17 

  He seems to want to think that noise on noise equals the 18 

same noise.  But one plus one equals two, not one plus one equals one.  19 

And so, we’re very concerned about noise, lighting, people.   20 

  I just drove by, by his property the other day on, on 21 

Columbus and, and Grant.  He indicated to us there’s normally seven or 22 

eight cars at that site on the average. 23 

  Yes, sometimes there’s a few cars, sometimes there more.  I 24 

drove by the other day.  There was between 15 and 20 cars there.  This 25 
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is not gonna be a small business as he indicates.  And he tries to 1 

placate us by saying, “Well, I got employees who are gonna ride their 2 

bikes to work.” 3 

  This is a business for cars.  This is not gonna be a drive-4 

up bike repair.  And so, the fact that two or three of his employees 5 

are gonna ride a bike to work, we’re not concerned about that.  We’re 6 

not interested.  I don’t see the relevance of that. 7 

  Yeah, I (inaudible) here about 300 feet of his property 8 

over at the southeast corner of Swan and Grant is an abandoned gas 9 

station.  It’s a big property.  Why aren’t they finding out about 10 

locating somewhere that is appropriate? 11 

  I’m sure – I didn’t check the zoning on that.  It’s 12 

probably C-2.  If it’s not, it would be more appropriate.  It’s not 13 

near the residents.  It doesn’t back up to them.  And there are more 14 

appropriate places. 15 

  I also – he also told us to drive by some of the other 16 

sites.  I went over and drove by the one on Campbell, just – it’s on 17 

Broadway just east of Campbell.  It backs up – their wall is within 18 

feet, less than three or four feet of the next residence that is 19 

attached to that wall. 20 

  You know, it’s unfortunate that that occurred without some 21 

kind of buffers to that residence there.  And that’s exactly what 22 

we’re trying to mitigate here. 23 

  And North Street itself (inaudible) back from North Street, 24 

it has (inaudible)  The City has been negligent in addressing flooding 25 
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issues there.  And the property, turning that, turning that house, 1 

demolishing it, and turning it into a parking lot, does not help 2 

improve that situation. 3 

  The, the – currently, the vehicles (inaudible) trash 4 

trucks, delivery trucks, everything, everybody’s allowed to drive in 5 

the alley that is to the east of that property on North Street.  The 6 

City – their only mitigation plan there is just to put some parking 7 

blocks in front of that and close it off, you know, but the alley will 8 

still be useable, it just won’t be a drive-through from North Street 9 

into the other area. 10 

  But it will still have cars.  It will still have its 11 

potholes and it will, it will most likely still have its flooding 12 

issues.  So, to put more blight out in that area is – doesn’t make 13 

sense. 14 

  And it’s not – again, it’s not – it doesn’t go, it’s not in 15 

line with the Grant and Alvernon Plan.  And it’s not in line what the 16 

neighborhoods want to see in this area. 17 

  And so, basically, that – I mean I know I’ve kind of gone 18 

on and on there, but, you know, we have a lot of points in our 19 

letters, anywhere from lighting to blight to, you know, the fact that 20 

we’re not gonna have somebody to work with. 21 

  And this – another issue just happened over in another ward 22 

from, I think, Councilperson Cunning- -- Cunningham’s ward, where 23 

another brake company, it was not this one, got their zoning change.  24 

They had a – apparently had a beautiful tree out front.  There’s some 25 
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issue going on there with they cut the tree down, or they cut parts of 1 

the tree down.  They promised not to, you know, but it happened and 2 

it’s a done deal. 3 

  So, there’s nothing we can do after these are rezoned and 4 

these changes are made.  We will not have any recourse.  That’s all 5 

there is to it.  And since we don’t have a working relationship with 6 

this company, and we, we know their track record, you know, we, we 7 

have no idea of how much of a problem it’s gonna be.  And we don’t 8 

need any more problems.  I’ve got them coming out of my ears, and the 9 

residents do, too.  So, thank you very much for letting me speak. 10 

  ZONING EXAMINER:  Well, thank you for coming.  We 11 

appreciate the testimony.  Who else in the audience would like to be 12 

heard?  You can raise your hand if you’re on the camera, or you can 13 

unmute and say you’d like to be.  Sir?  Yes?  You only come across as 14 

Z.G. Guest.  So, if you would unmute.  State your name and address, – 15 

  MR. NADLER:  Okay. 16 

  ZONING EXAMINER:  - I would be happy to hear your 17 

testimony. 18 

  MR. NADLER:  First off.  Can you hear me now? 19 

  ZONING EXAMINER:  Yes, I can.  Thank you. 20 

  MR. NADLER:  Okay.  I’m here with Zaki Ghibli.  That’s the 21 

owner of 4651 East North Street.  That’s the proper- -- one of the 22 

properties that are due south of the, the, the subject property.   23 
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  My name’s Eric Nadler.  I’m an attorney, and my address is 1 

3561 East Sunrise Drive, Suite 201, Tucson, Arizona.  Did you need 2 

other information beyond that or –  3 

  ZONING EXAMINER:  Anything you want to tell me about the 4 

rezoning case, I’m happy to hear. 5 

  MR. NADLER:  First, I wanted to verify.  You indicated that 6 

there were two written protests.  Can we verify that you’ve received 7 

Mr. Ghibli’s written protest? 8 

  ZONING EXAMINER:  I have seen that, yes, sir. 9 

  MR. NADLER:  Okay.  So, without taking too much time, I 10 

wanted to reiterate, and make, and make sure that it’s understood.  11 

His concern is with an alleyway that’s running north-south that will, 12 

that in the proposed plan, will be eliminated and the new alleyway 13 

will be com- -- an alleyway coming off of Swan running east-west.  14 

He’s relied on that alleyway, and that’s, the, the existing alleyway, 15 

to get to the back of his property for all the time that he’s owned 16 

it. 17 

  The new alleyway will, will be far more complex and 18 

difficult for him to get into and, and dangerous.  We’re, we’re, we’re 19 

unclear as to how, on what basis, an alleyway that’s been relied on by 20 

one of the owners can just be eliminated to create the proposed plan 21 

going forward.   22 

  It seems unfair, and it seems beyond.  It, it – I don’t 23 

know if it’s being taken account of in terms of the scope of the 24 
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rezoning, this kind of impact.  That’s principally our point, and I 1 

would just – you, you already have the content in the record. 2 

  ZONING EXAMINER:  I do.  But just so that I’m clear, and I 3 

do have the, the correspondence, and it does have a diagram with 4 

colored, you know, markings for the different properties.  But just 5 

while we’re here so I can focus my mind on it, is this the alley 6 

between the property and the Dunkin’ Donuts or on the other – on the 7 

west side? 8 

  MR. NADLER:  Okay.  I, I didn’t hear exactly, but you’re 9 

asking where the alley is? 10 

  ZONING EXAMINER:  Yes. 11 

  MR. NADLER:  So, there’s Mr. Ghibli’s property and then 12 

immediately east of it, there’s the property that’s gonna be turned 13 

into a parking lot.  And then after that, there’s an alleyway that’s 14 

there.  That would probably – it’s gonna be incorporated into the 15 

parking lot.  So, it would between the house that’s to the east of his 16 

house, and I believe it might be – it’s an insurance (inaudible) 17 

  MR. GHIBLI:  Cashway, Cashway. 18 

  MR. NADLER:  Cashway.  There’s a, there’s a building after 19 

it. 20 

  ZONING EXAMINER:  That’s helpful.  I, I know where you’re 21 

talking about now.  Thank you very much.   22 

  MR. NADLER:  Thank you. 23 

  ZONING EXAMINER:  Mr. Nadler and Mr. Ghibli, thank you for 24 

coming and participating.  Appreciate it. 25 
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  MR. GHIBLI:  Thank, thank you. 1 

  ZONING EXAMINER:  Would anyone else like to be heard?     2 

Kill the mic.  Thank you.  Would anyone else in the audience like to 3 

be heard?  Hearing no one, Mr. Egan, I’ll turn it over to you if you 4 

would like to address any of the comments that have been made. 5 

  MR. EGAN:  Yes.  With regard – can you hear me? 6 

  ZONING EXAMINER:  Yes. 7 

  MR. EGAN:  Okay.  Good.  With regard to the alley access, 8 

the, the alley on the west side of the proposed Brake Masters will be 9 

improved and widened.  It should be easy enough to access the property 10 

to the south of the Brake Masters that way, or through the entrance to 11 

the Brake Masters. 12 

  The alleys are going to be improved and re-asphalted so 13 

that not only will there be less dirt and dust in the area, they’ll 14 

actually be serviceable.   15 

  So, he should be able to access on the west side of the 16 

Brake Masters, or on the east side of the Brake Masters; 17 

circumnavigate the Brake Masters and access his property that way.  18 

The alley’s not changing, it’s getting better. 19 

  ZONING EXAMINER:  Okay.  And would you like to speak to any 20 

of the other issues raised by the other witness, Ms. Paulock? 21 

  MR. EGAN:  Well, I’d be happy to speak to Ms. Paulock on 22 

any number of her concerns.  The, the trees, we will keep, and all of 23 

the conditions we’re happy to incorporate either with the City or the 24 
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Neighborhood Association directly so that in terms of enforceability, 1 

I’m happy to, to give any kind of sanction that they’d like. 2 

  The interest – she, she mentioned briefly the Campbell and 3 

Broadway store.  One of the conditions for the Neighborhood 4 

Association, with Sam Hughes Neighborhood Association, is that that 5 

house be kept and renovated. 6 

  And so, as a condition to the rezone, we spent $200,000 7 

renovating a house we would be more than happy to have torn down.  But 8 

we did it, and it’s rented, and it’s the buffer between the Brake 9 

Masters and that Sam Hughes Neighborhood Association. 10 

  ZONING EXAMINER:  So, you’ve reviewed the Conditions that 11 

have been prepared by Staff for the rezoning.  Correct, Mr. Egan? 12 

  MR. EGAN:  I have. 13 

  ZONING EXAMINER:  And you agree with all of them? 14 

  MR. EGAN:  Certainly. 15 

  ZONING EXAMINER:  And I’m not certain that I saw in there 16 

anything about preserving the mature vegetation or trees.  Is there 17 

such a Condition?  I can call it up on my screen, but maybe you know. 18 

  MR. EGAN:  There, there is no Condition that we preserve 19 

those trees.  We have offered to, and I’m happy to stipulate to 20 

maintaining that vegetation.   21 

  ZONING EXAMINER:  As a Condi- -- 22 

  MR. EGAN:  We’ve also (inaudible) 23 

  ZONING EXAMINER:  As a, as a Condition to the rezoning, 24 

you’re agreeable to that? 25 
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  MR. EGAN:  Yes, sir.  Of course. 1 

  ZONING EXAMINER:  All right.  Would you like to say 2 

anything else Mr. Egan? 3 

  MR. EGAN:  No. 4 

  ZONING EXAMINER:  All right.  Well, I want to thank 5 

everyone for participating tonight.  These are unusual times.  These 6 

video meetings have actually worked out pretty well.   7 

  I know it’s not perfect, and I know it’s not a substitute 8 

for coming down in person.  But I want to thank each and every one of 9 

you for participating tonight, and I’m now closing the public hearing 10 

on the case. 11 

  I want to thank everyone and I hope you all have a very 12 

safe evening and be safe out there.  Take care. 13 

  (Case: C9-20-09 was closed.) 14 
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